## FILED

MAY 0 2 2014

No. 31992-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

TJ LANDCO, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company Plaintiff-Respondent

٧.

HARLEY C. DOUGLASS, INC., a Washington Corporation Defendant-Appellant

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Maryann C. Moreno, Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Steven J Hassing, WSBA No. 6690 425 Calabria Court Roseville, CA 95747 916-677-1776 Phone 916-677-1770 Fax sjh@hassinglaw.com

Attorney for Harley C. Douglass, Inc., Appellant

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Real estate developers are known for their negotiating skill and deal making ability. When strapped for cash or to keep good deals alive, they strike bargains they might not otherwise consider. After accepting performance by the other party, one is not usually allowed to simply disregard the agreement made in time of need. But, that is what happened in this case.

Here, both parties are seasoned developers, experienced in crafting arrangements beneficial to their own interests. Respondent, TJ Landco, LLC, being "stretched to the limit", negotiated away the right to receive interest in exchange for much needed cash. However, when litigation ensued Landco reneged on its agreement and asked the court to ignore its early receipt of \$314,558 in consideration for reducing the rate of interest to zero.

Having bargained away its right to interest, Landco asked the court to "penalize" Appellant, Harley C. Douglass, Inc., by assessing 12 percent interest. Ignoring the contract and the two statutes which control interest awards, the trial court awarded Landco prejudgment interest totaling \$289,705 and 12 percent interest on the judgment which will add another \$224,588 by the end of this year. This appeal requires resolution of one overriding issue of first impression.

When contracting parties agree in writing to a specified rate of interest must they also agree on an additional default rate to avoid imputation of the 12% statutory rate in the event of breach?

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR & LEGAL ISSUES

#### Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred when it included the words, "on or about December 22, 2011" in finding of fact number 18.
- 2. The trial court erred in refusing Douglass' proposed alternative finding 18 which would have eliminated, "on or about December 22, 2011".
- 3. The trial court erred when it awarded \$144,000 in prejudgment interest on installments due December 22, 2008, 2009 and 2010.
- 4. The trial court erred by stating, in conclusion six, that prejudgment interest be calculated at 12 percent per annum.
- 5. The trial court erred in refusing Douglass' proposed conclusion that prejudgment interest be calculated at zero percent.
- 6. The trial court erred in awarding \$289,709.60 in prejudgment interest at 12 percent instead of awarding nothing based upon the agreed upon rate of zero percent.
- 7. The trial court erred in stating, in conclusion seven, that interest on the judgment should accrue at 12 percent per annum.
- 8. The trial court erred in overruling Douglass' objection to conclusion seven which stated that interest accrue on the judgment at 12 percent.
- 9. The trial court erred in failing to accept Douglass' proposed alternative conclusion seven stating that the judgment should contain language providing that it accrue interest at zero percent.
- 10. The trial court erred in failing to include language in the judgment providing that interest was to accrue at zero percent.

11. The trial court erred in awarding Landco attorney's fees for services performed by legal interns absent findings that they were qualified, that the work performed was of a legal nature and that the work was supervised by an attorney.

#### Legal Issues Pertaining to The Assignments of Error

- 1. Is conclusion number six which states that Plaintiff is entitled to prejudgment interest at 12 percent per annum supported by the findings? (Errors 3, 4, 5 & 6).
- 2. Is that part of finding 18 which states, "on or about December 22, 2011" and which seems to imply a date for termination of the parties' agreement that the interest rate be zero, supported by substantial evidence? (Errors 1, 2, 4, 5 & 6).
- 3. Do the findings support the award of \$144,000 in prejudgment interest on installments coming due prior to December 22, 2011? (Error 3).
- 4. When contracting parties agree in writing that a deferred balance shall accrue interest at a certain rate must they also specify an additional "default" rate in order to avoid imputation of the 12 percent statutory rate upon breach? (Errors 2, 4, 5 & 6).
- 5. Was the Landco-Douglass contract sufficient to avoid imputation of the legal rate of 12%? (Errors 2, 4, 5 & 6).
- 6. Where the parties to a written contract agree upon the rate of interest does the trial court abuse its discretion if it awards prejudgment interest at a different rate? (Errors 2, 4, 5 & 6).
- 7. Is conclusion number seven which states that Plaintiff is entitled to interest on the judgment at the rate of 12 percent supported by the findings? (Errors 1, 2, 7, 8, 9 & 10).
- 8. Does the court abuse its discretion when it awards attorney fees for work performed by unlicensed legal interns without finding that they are qualified to perform substantive legal work, that the work performed was of a legal nature and that the work was supervised by an attorney? (Error #11).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is Harley C. Douglass, Inc., a Washington corporation. Douglass, the defendant below, is an experienced residential land developer and home builder. (RT 560; 6-23).

Respondent is TJ Landco, LLC, a Washington limited liability company. Landco, the plaintiff below, is owned and operated by Tod Lasley, himself a seasoned residential real estate developer. Lasley obtained his real estate license in 1985 and not long after, formed his own development company. By 1993 Lasley had developed various projects, including a 350 acre 18 hold golf course community in Deer Park. (RT 101; 19-106; 9).

In late 2002 or early 2003 Landco began assembling 94 acres of land in Spokane for residential development. (RT 66; 17 & 118-22-120; 6). In February of 2004 Landco and Douglass entered into a written contract with Douglass agreeing to buy the land once Landco obtained an acceptable preliminary plat. The purchase price was \$3.6 million and required a \$2 million down payment. The remaining \$1.6 million was to be paid in annual installments beginning two years following closing. (Ex P-1) \(^1\) (CP 49).

Prior to plat approval and before Douglass was obligated to pay any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ex P-1 is attached as Appendix A

money, Landco encountered financial difficulty and needed nearly \$1.5 million in advances to enable it to honor contract obligations on its own purchase of the 94 acres. In exchange for Douglass' financial backing, Landco reduced the price to \$3.1 million. (RT 148; 22; 155-4).

Interest during the first two years following close of escrow was to equal the minimum federal rate. Since no interest was awarded for the first two years following the December 22, 2006 close of escrow, the federal rate is not at issue. After the first two years, interest was to accrue at six percent until the balance was paid in full. (Ex P-1) (CP 49).

In June of 2004, Landco unsuccessfully attempted to amend the contract to require Douglass to pay 12 percent "default" interest on late payments. (RT 150-9; 151; 16) <sup>2</sup>.

Landco obtained final preliminary plat approval on October 9, 2006. (Ex P-3) (CP 51- 53). By that time, Douglass had advanced cash or credit of around \$2,485,442 of the \$3.6 million original price. (Ex P-19) <sup>3</sup>. On December 22, 2006 the parties met and agreed that there remained owing a total of \$1,114,558.19. (RT 572; 17- 19) <sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ex D-101 at page 2, (iii) & Ex D-102 at page 2, (iii)

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Ex P-19 is the parties' December 22, 2006 contract modification, attached as Appendix B

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> also see CP 68 & 583 and Ex P-19

Under the original agreement Landco was not entitled to another payment for two years. (Ex P-1). But when the parties met in December of 2006 Landco was again in need of cash. In fact, just three months earlier, Landco, being "stretched to the limit", borrowed \$31,000 from Douglass. (RT 155; 10- 156; 4)<sup>5</sup>. At the December meeting, Landco promised to reduce the interest rate from six percent to zero if Douglass would make an immediate payment of \$114,558 and advance the due date on the initial installment a full year. (RT 331; 21- 332; 5). Douglass agreed, the parties executed a one page modification<sup>6</sup> and Douglass advanced Landco another \$114,558. (RT 574; 3-5). The initial \$200,000 installment was paid on March 4, 2008. (CP 583) <sup>7</sup>

By the time the December 22, 2008 installment came due Douglass had discovered what he considered to be significant problems with the plat which he believed would only allow for 304 of the 371 lots. (RT 851; 2-4) (578; 17- 579; 3). Believing entitlement to an offset exceeding the remaining \$800,000 balance, Douglass made no further payments. (CP 588, 589; findings 20- 24). Douglass then sold the land without developing it. (RT 864;10- 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ex P-19 shows that this \$31,000 loan was made to Landco on September 6, 2006

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Contract modification in evidence as Ex P-19; see Appendix B

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Also see Issues Not Disputed 6 & 7

Landco filed suit on February 9, 2010. After a five day bench trial before the Honorable Maryann C. Moreno, it was determined that Landco was obligated to provide Douglass with credits if less than 371 lots could be achieved. However, Douglass's sale of the property prior to developing it precluded any setoff. The court explained;

Mr. Douglass claimed damages for an offset that he believed was owed. But I would have to speculate as to that, and I don't have any facts to even speculate with. It's impossible to assess what kind of damages, if any, he would incur. Whenever a court is determining damages, it has to be done with reasonable certainty. And that's impossible to do in this case.

(RT 865; 4-10).

With no offset, Douglass was found to be in breach of contract and Landco was awarded the \$800,000 as damages. (RT 865; 13).

A hearing on findings and conclusions was held on June 28, 2013. At issue is finding 18 and conclusions six and seven. Finding 18 included language which seemingly indicated that the zero interest provision extended only until December 22, 2011. (CP 588). Conclusion six set prejudgment interest at 12 percent and conclusion seven stated that the judgment itself bear interest at 12 percent. (CP 591).

Judgment was entered on June 28, 2013. (CP 592, 593). Landco was awarded \$800,000 for breach of contract plus \$289,705 in prejudgment interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Findings and Conclusions are attached as Appendix C

On July 8, 2013, Douglass filed a motion for reconsideration asking the court to correct the prejudgment interest rate to zero percent and to reduce to zero the amount of interest that was to accrue on the judgment. (CP 603). Douglass' motion was denied on September 16. (CP 626). Twenty-four days later, Douglass filed its Notice of Appeal. (CP 627).

On post-trial motion, Landco requested \$417,858.00 in attorney's fees. (CP 651, 660) On January 9, 2014 the trial court entered a separate judgment awarding Landco fees of \$237,007.47. (CP 1061). On January 17, 2014, Douglass separately appealed that judgment as case number 322084. (CP 1063). On February 5, 2014 appeal 322084 was consolidated with 319920.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Washington law recognizes that parties may agree by contract to an interest rate different from that provided for by statute. (RCW 19.52.010 (1) and RCW 4.56.110 (1)). That is exactly what the parties did in this case. However, their contract was disregarded and the statutes authorizing prejudgment interest and interest on judgments were ignored. Without any finding to support the court's conclusions on interest Landco was awarded prejudgment interest at 12 percent as well as 12 percent interest on the judgment.

During trial Landco admitted that it had agreed to reduce interest from six percent to zero in consideration for Douglass' early payment of \$314,558. (RT 328; 6- 16) & (RT 331; 21- 332; 5). That did not prevent Landco from urging the court to award 12 percent interest as a penalty for Douglass' breach. (RT 889; 24- 890; 14). The statute authorizing prejudgment interest at the statutory rate conditions 12 percent on failure of the parties to otherwise agree upon a rate. (RCW 19.52.010 (1)). Interest on a judgment at 12 percent is likewise conditioned on a failure of the parties to have agreed upon a contract interest rate. (RCW 4.56.110 (1)).

Landco mistakenly contends that despite the clear language employed by the legislature, the court must award prejudgment interest at 12 percent if the parties have not contracted for a "default" rate <u>in addition</u> to the rate which will be applied to timely made payments. (CP 609 at 28-30) (CP 612 at 4-6). That is not the law and there is not one case that so holds.

While admitting that it clearly understood that the parties agreement on zero interest was not conditioned upon timely payments the trial court disregarded Douglass' adamant objections to improper findings and conclusions as well as proposals for alternatives. Conclusions six and seven are unsupported by findings or legal reasoning.

.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### REGARDING PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

#### **LEGAL ISSUE NUMBER 1**

Is conclusion number six, which states that Plaintiff is entitled to prejudgment interest at 12 percent per annum, supported by the findings?

The statute which authorizes prejudgment interest at 12 percent requires a failure by the parties to agree upon any interest rate. Before the court can conclude that interest is to be calculated at 12 percent it must first find that there was no other agreement on interest. Since the trial court failed to so find, conclusion six is unsupported.

#### 1. Standard of Review

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc.*, 132 Wn.App. 546, 555, 132 P.3d 789 (Div 2, 2006). They are reviewed to determine whether the trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence, and if so, whether those findings support the conclusions of law. Substantial evidence is evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise. *In re Snyder*, 85 Wash.2d 182, 185-86, 532 P.2d 278 (1975).

2. The court concluded that Landco was entitled to prejudgment interest at the rate of 12 percent without a finding that the parties had not agreed in writing to a different rate.

#### Conclusion Number 6 Provides;

TJ Landco is entitled to judgment in the full amount of \$800,000 plus prejudgment interest at the rate of 12 percent per annum from the due dates reflected above on each successive installment to and until the date judgment is entered.

(CP 591)

Finding 18, the only finding to address interest, provides:

The accounting acknowledged that Defendant owed Plaintiff \$1,114,558.19 as of December 22, 2006 and that payment was to be made that day in the amount of \$114,558.19 with the remaining \$1,000,000.00 balance to be paid off in 5 equal, annual installments each year thereafter without interest until paid in full on or about December 22, 2011, See Exhibit P-19.

(CP 588). Finding 18 does not support prejudgment interest of 12 percent.

The trial court's authority to calculate prejudgment interest at 12% is derived from RCW § 19.52.010 (1) which provides in pertinent part;

Every loan or forbearance of money, goods, or thing in action shall bear interest at the rate of twelve percent per annum where no different rate is agreed to in writing between the parties...

Since the statute only authorizes the court to impose 12 percent "where no different rate is agreed to" the court committed error by concluding that Landco was entitled to prejudgment interest at 12 percent without first finding that no different rate had been agreed to. Conclusion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RCW 19.52.010 is set forth verbatim as Appendix D

six is contradicted by all of the evidence pertaining to interest.

## 3. Douglass' timely objection to conclusion six was overruled and its proposed alternative was denied.

Douglass' objection to conclusion number six proposed that the court use the actual contract language, "six percent until paid in full" and language from the modification reducing six percent to "zero interest". (CP 547 at [1]; 580 at [1])<sup>10</sup>. In contrast, Landco's attorney urged the court to disregard the parties agreement and instead penalize Douglass stating;

Prejudgment interest is favored as a "<u>penalty</u>" when someone wrongfully withholds payments that are due. And it's not--It is not a contract agreement, because the contract has been breached.

(RT 889; 24-890; 14).

The court cited no legal authority authorizing 12 percent prejudgment interest on the facts in evidence. The court actually swept aside the parties' negotiated bargain on zero interest.

So the zero percent interest and the 6 percent interest are based upon a contract. And the contract called for certain payments to be made within a year's time. And the parties agreed first that it would be 6 percent. Then they changed it up a bit in the accounting, for whatever reason there was an agreement that there would be no interest paid.

Douglass' objections to findings and conclusions and its proposed additional findings are attached as Appendix E

The court unfairly minimized the fact that Douglass paid \$314,558 sooner than it would otherwise have been due as valuable consideration for Landco's promise to drop the interest rate to zero

But basically all bets are off: If you're not going to abide by the contract and the Court finds breach of contract and I order the prejudgment interest, the interest starts to accrue from the date the payment should have been made <u>I think</u> it is appropriate to set it at 12 percent.

(RT 891; 1-11).

If breach, rather than the parties' agreement were test, the legislature would have found no need to include the specific language;

#### "where no different rate is agreed to in writing between the parties"

Were that the case, the legislature would have simply stated that in contract cases prejudgment interest of 12 percent shall be awarded to the non-breaching party. A statutory interpretation should not be adopted that renders any portion of the statute meaningless. *State v. Keller*, 143 Wn.2d 267, 277, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001). By awarding 12 percent without finding that the parties did not agree to a different rate the trial court rendered meaningless that material part of the statute.

#### **LEGAL ISSUE NUMBER 2**

Is that part of finding 18 which states, "on or about December 22, 2011" and which seems to imply a date for termination of the parties' agreement that the interest rate be zero, supported by substantial evidence?

#### 1. Standard of Review

Findings of fact are reviewed to determine whether they are supported by substantial evidence. *Premera v. Kreidler*, 133 Wn.App. 23, 31, 131 P.3d 930 (Div 2, 2006). Substantial evidence is a quantum of

evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person the premise is true. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). The review is deferential; the evidence and all reasonable inferences are reviewed in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. Korst v. McMahon, 136 Wn.App. 202, 206, 148 P.3d 1081 (Div 2, 2006).

## 2. There was no evidence that Landco's promise to charge zero interest terminated on December 22, 2011.

Finding 18 is central to Douglass' appeal since all but one of the assigned errors relate to interest and there isn't any other finding which even mentions interest. The finding seems to indicate---wrongly---that the agreement on zero interest is to terminate in December of 2011.

As already noted, finding 18 provides;

The accounting acknowledged that Defendant owed Plaintiff \$1,114,558.19 as of December 22, 2006 and that payment was to be made that day in the amount of \$114,558.19 with the remaining \$1,000,000.00 balance to be paid off in 5 equal, annual installments each year thereafter without interest until paid in full on or about December 22, 2011, See Exhibit P-19.

(CP 588). (Appendix C)

The words "on or about December 22, 2011" are not supported by the evidence. They appear in the record for the first time in Landco's submittal of proposed findings and conclusions. (CP 536; 12). Moreover, the words render the otherwise accurate finding unclear. To conform to

the evidence the court should have stopped with the words "until paid in full" because the original contract provided for interest at six percent until paid in full and the modification replaced six percent with zero. (Ex P-1; Ex P-19).

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