JUN 02 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 31992-0-III

5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

TJ LANDCO, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HARLEY C. DOUGLASS, INC., a Washington Corporation, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Maryann C. Moreno, Judge

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

VI. ARGUMENT

While HCDI has presented many contentions on appeal related to prejudgment interest, its major argument is that the trial court could not award prejudgment interest at 12% because the contract between the parties provided that the balance owed would not bear interest. This argument fails the contract at issue did not contain a written term for a default interest rate. Further, prejudgment interest was not based on the terms of the contract, but was awarded as a measure of damages since the sums HCDI owed were liquidated amounts due on specific dates and wrongfully withheld by HCDI. As a result, the court correctly applied the statutory interest rate to apply in the event of any default.

A. <u>Response to Legal Issue Number 1:</u> The Trial court's Conclusion of Law No. 6 is supported by the undisputed evidence, several Findings of Fact and non-appealed Conclusions of Law Numbers 1 through 5 as an appropriate way to measure the damages caused by HCDI's breach of agreement to make installment payments totaling \$800,000 due and owing to TJ Landco

There is a difference between a contractual right to interest and

prejudgment interest as a claim for expectation damages following breach of contract. *Farm Credit Bank v. Tucker*, 62 Wn. App. 196, 200, 813 P.2d 619 (Div. 3 1991). When the contract specifies an interest rate applicable to the debt and the creditor claims interest as a contractual right, the court has no discretion to deny interest because "where it is reserved expressly in the contract...it becomes part of the debt." *Id.* (*citing Redfield v. Ystalyfera Iron Co.*, 110 U.S. 174, 176, 3 S. Ct. 570, 572, 28 L. Ed. 109 (1884)). However, where the claim is for prejudgment interest by way of expectation damages, it is awarded to compensate for denying the use value of money wrongfully retained by the defendant, not as a contractual right. *Id.*

1. Standard of Review

Prejudgment interest on a liquidated claim is an element of damages grounded in sound public policy. *Colonial Imps. v. Carlton N.W., Inc.*, 83 Wn.App. 229, 242, 921 P.d2d 575 (1996). However, a court has authority to deny prejudgment interest where there are equitable grounds for denial. *Farm Credit Bank v. Tucker*, 62 Wn. App. 196, 200, 813 P.2d 619 (Div. 3 1991). A trial court's award of prejudgment interest is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Litho Color, Inc. v. Pac. Employers Ins. Co.*, 98 Wn. App. 286, 300, 991 P.2d 638 (1999); *Crest Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Wn.App. 760, 775, 115 P.3d 349 (2005). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is arbitrary, manifestly unreasonable, or based upon untenable grounds. *Mehlenbacher v. DeMont*, 103 Wn.App. 240, 2501-51, 11 P.3d 871 (2000) (quoting *Atwood v. Shanks*, 91 Wn.App. 404, 409, 958 P.2d 332 (1998)). Stated another way, appellate courts give great weight to a trial court's exercise of discretion. *Brown v. Voss*, 105 Wn.2d 366, 372, 715 P.2d 514 (1986).

è

2. The court concluded that TJ Landco is entitled to prejudgment interest at the rate of 12 percent as a measure of damages based on appropriate Findings that the sums owed were liquidated amounts due on specified dates.

The trial court awarded TJ Landco prejudgment interest in light of the fact that sums claimed were liquidated amounts that were owed on specified dates. Courts award prejudgment interest in contract litigation when one party to an agreement wrongfully retains funds rightfully belonging to the other party. *Crest Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Wn.App. 760, 775, 115 P.3d 349 (Div 1, 2005). The court in *Crest* stated: "Prejudgment interest is a make-whole remedy which is grounded in the "sense of justice in the business community . . . that he who retains money which he ought to pay to another should be charged interest on it."" *Id at 775.* Prejudgment interest is awarded from the date when the claim is liquidated. *Prier v. Refrigeration Eng'g Co.*, 74 Wn.2d 25, 32, 442 P.2d 621 (1968). A claim is liquidated when it is for a fixed sum or the evidence provides a basis upon which recovery could be computed with exactness. *Id.* Here, the court properly applied the law on prejudgment interest to the facts. HCDI incorrectly asserts that Finding 18 is the only Finding pertaining to the issue of the prejudgment interest. The trial court's award of prejudgment interest at 12% was supported by Finding 18 along with Findings 21-25, which stated that four installments of \$200,000 became due and payable to TJ Landco for four consecutive years on December 22, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011. The Court also found that these amounts were readily determined without reference to anything outside the documents available to the parties <u>and</u> that "TJ Landco was denied the use of the money withheld by HCDI." Based on these Findings, the trial court properly concluded that TJ Landco was entitled to prejudgment interest as a measure of expectation damages from the date each installment was due until the date judgment was entered.

> 3. HCDI's objection to Conclusion Six was properly addressed because prejudgment interest was awarded as an equitable remedy for breach of contract and the parties contract does not include a written term covering interest in the event of a default in payment by HCDI.

The trial court's award of prejudgment interest was based on HCDI's breach of the contract. Since the sums owed were liquidated, it was appropriate for the trial court to address HCDI's objection to Conclusion 6 and to deny the alternative proposed conclusion that suggested zero percent or alternatively six percent interest.

As HCDI mentioned in its opening brief, the trial court clearly indicated that the prejudgment interest was not awarded based on contract, rather it was awarded as a liquidated damage after the underlying contract had been breached as to each payment. Yet, HCDI argues that the trial court erred by not referencing the pre-maturity interest rate established by the underlying agreements. HCDI suggests that: "the court actually swept aside the parties' negotiated bargain on zero interest by assuming unsupported facts about the parties' agreement to zero interest while installment payments are being made." The facts, however, do not reveal any agreement between the parties that HCDI could simply skip any payment without being asked to pay for the damage that such default would cause TJ Landco. There is no evidence that anyone believed that the \$114,588.19 payment was "early" or considered payment "in exchange" for a reduced interest rate. In fact, there is no evidence of any negotiation in that regard. The language at issue simply sets forth the \$1,000,000.00 balance owed by HCDI with provision that it would be paid in \$200,000 increments over 5 years without interest. Not one shred of evidence was introduced by HCDI to show that this was a written term intended to avoid the statutory interest

rate after default. That argument, which is just that, was never presented at trial.

Further, the court did not award TJ Landco any interest on the installment payments <u>until after each payment was due</u> and owing; after HCDI wrongfully breached the agreement and refused to pay. The only party attempting to sweep aside the bargain is HCDI. In its uncontested conclusion of law, the court stated: "HCDI breached its agreement with TJ Landco by failing to pay \$800,000 in installment payments as they came due." (Conclusion 2). Accordingly, the trial court properly denied HCDI's proposed alternative Conclusion of Law because it was based on an inaccurate application of the law to these facts.

B. <u>Response to HCDI's Legal Issue Number 2</u>: The portion of the trial court's Finding 18 that references "December 22, 2011" is related to the calculation of the date on which the 5th payment of \$200,000 became due.

1. Standard of Review

When Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are entered following a bench trial, appellate review is limited to determining whether the Findings are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the Findings support the trial courts conclusions of law and judgment. *Buck Mountain Owners' Ass'n v. Prestwich*, 174 Wn.App. 702, 713, 308 P.3d 644 (2013). Appellate courts defer to the trier of fact for purposes of resolving conflicting testimony and evaluating the persuasiveness of the evidence and credibility of the witnesses. *Boeing Co. v. Heidy*, 147 Wn.2d 78, 87, 51 P.3d 793 (2002). There is a presumption in favor of the trial court's Findings, and the party claiming error has the burden of showing that a Finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence. *Fisher Props., Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc.,* 115 Wn.2d 364, 369, 798 P.2d 799 (1990). Appellate courts are deferential in their review of Findings of Fact made by the trial court. Furthermore, unchallenged Findings of Fact are verities on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley,* 118 Wn.2d 810, 808, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

2. The uncontested evidence established that the final payment owed to TJ Landco was due on December 22, 2011

The parties entered into an account stated on December 22, 2006. In that agreement, it was recognized that HCDI owed TJ Landco \$1,114,558.19. HCDI paid TJ Landco \$114,558.16 that day and committed to pay off the balance owed by making annual payments of \$200,000 per year for five years. Thus, the final payment of \$200,000 would become due on or about December 22, 2011.

Additionally, TJ Landco's representative Tod Lasley testified about the agreement as follows:

<u>Lasley:</u> So that day, I received a -- a check for 114,588. And then the agreement was that the balance would be paid -- that the balance of the million dollars would be paid in -in five payments of \$200,000 per year.

<u>Counsel:</u> So each anniversary you were entitled to \$500,000?

Lasley: Correct.

4

Counsel: Pardon me. \$200,000?

Lasley: 200,000, yes. And the -- the 22nd of December.

<u>Counsel:</u> For the succeeding how many years?

Lasley: For the next five years.

(RT 298:5-14). Mr. Lasley's testimony, which was not controverted,

reflects the understanding that HCDI would pay TJ Landco \$200,000

each year on December 22 for five years, which makes the final payment

due and owing on December 22, 2011.

Viewing the evidence and testimony in a light most favorable to

TJ Landco, the trial court's Finding 18 which states:

The accounting acknowledged that Defendant owed Plaintiff \$1,114,558.19 as of December 22, 2006 and that payment was to be made that day in the amount of \$114,558.19 with the remaining \$1,000,000 balance to be paid off in 5 equal, annual installments each year thereafter without interest until paid in full on or about December 22, 2011, See Exhibit P-19."

is supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, the trial court properly addressed HCDI's proposed alternative to Finding 18.

3. Harmless Error

Alternatively, Washington courts have established that any defect in the Finding of fact which does not materially affect the merits of the controversy is harmless error, not grounds for reversal. W. L. Reid Co. v. M-B Contractor Co., 46 Wn.2d 784, 791, 285 P.2d 121, 125, (Wash. 1955); citing In re Bailey's Estate, 178 Wash. 173, 34 P. (2d) 448 (1934). Below, the trial court concluded that prejudgment interest was proper because the individual payments owed were a liquidated amount due on a specific day based on the contractual agreement of the parties. The interest awarded was at the statutory rate beginning after each failure by HCDI. The purpose of the award is by way of compensation for expectation damage to the non-breaching party. Accordingly, while Finding 18 may be central to HCDI's appeal, it was not central to the trial court's award of prejudgment interest. The date that the final amount owed was to be paid in full was only tangentially related to the due dates for each \$200,000 installment. Each wrongful withholding of payment commenced a new damage to Plaintiff.

- C. <u>Response to HCDI's Legal Issue Number 3:</u> The trial court's Findings support the award for prejudgment interest in the amount of \$144,000 prior to December 22, 2011 because the trial court found that HCDI wrongfully withheld annual installment payments that were owed to TJ Landco.
 - 1. Standard of Review

As detailed previously in section VI B 1, Findings are entitled to a presumption and the opposing party bears the burden of proving lack of substantial evidence. Furthermore, unchallenged Findings of Fact are deemed true on appeal.

2. The award of \$289,705 in prejudgment interest is consistent with Finding 18.

As articulated above, the trial court properly awarded prejudgment interest based on its determination that TJ Landco's claims were for liquidated amounts that were due on determinable dates. This award is based on the entirety of the record, including without limitation Findings 21-25. Finding 18 consistently referenced the Account Stated (P-19) which acknowledged that the \$1,000,000 balance was to be paid to TJ Landco in five annual installments. The agreement was signed on December 22, 2006, the first payment of \$114,558.19 was made that day. Thus, the final payment became due on December 22, 2011. Accordingly, Finding 18 is consistent with the award of prejudgment interest from December 22 of each year (2008, 2009, 2010, 2011) as each successive refusal resulted in increased economic damage to TJ Landco.

It is important to point out that HCDI's proposed interpretation of the contract would result in an absurd outcome. Specifically, without one shred of evidence, HCDI asks this court to declare that it could hold onto the contractually owed \$1,000,000 without penalty at least for 5 years. This runs directly contrary to the established law that "Prejudgment interest is a make-whole remedy which is grounded in the "sense of justice in the business community . . . that he who retains money which he ought to pay to another should be charged interest on it."" *Id. (quoting Colonial Imports v. Carlton N.W., Inc.*, 83 Wn. App. 229, 242, 921 P.2d 575 (Div. 1, 1996)).

D. <u>Response to HCDI's Legal Issue Number 4:</u> The prejudgment interest was awarded as a measure of damages following each breach and wrongful withholding of \$200,000 by HCDI.

There is a difference between a contractual right to interest and prejudgment interest as a claim for expectation damages. *Farm Credit Bank v. Tucker*, 62 Wn. App. 196, 200, 813 P.2d 619 (Div. 3 1991). Where the claim is for prejudgment interest on expectation damages it is awarded to compensate for loss of the use value of money wrongfully detained by the defendant. *Id.* HCDI's appeal is based on the false assertion that the trial court's award of prejudgment interest arose out of the contract. RCW 19.52.010 was not the basis for the trial court imposing prejudgment interest since the contract does not contain a clause that addresses interest in the event of default. Nonetheless, as outlined below, even if RCW 19.52.010 was the basis, the proper interest rate after default would be 12%.

٠

1. RCW 19.52.010 is one source that authorizes prejudgment interest in a breach of contract case

If the court awarded interest under the contract, then the statutory default interest rate specified in RCW 19.52.010 would still apply. The contract entered into by HCDI and TJ Landco did not specify a default interest rate. RCW 19.52.010 applies to transactions, agreed to in writing, that "provide[s] for the payment of money at the end of an agreed period of time or in installments over an agreed period of time."

"Absent a written agreement regarding interest, RCW 19.52.010 imposes a statutory rate." *Mehlenbacher*, 103 Wn. App. 250, 251, 11 P.3d 871 (Div. 2, 2000). Contrary to HCDI's assertion, where a contract does not specify a default interest rate, the statutory default interest rate is imposed once a default has occurred. *Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Nat'l Bank of Commerce*, 69 Wn.2d 682, 420 P.2d 208 (1966). This remains the rule even where, just as in the case at hand, a contract clearly specifies that the applicable interest rate is zero percent prior to default. *Mehlenbacher* at 250. Further, language in the note that specifies there is to be "no interest" "until paid" is not sufficient to eliminate the distinction between pre-maturity and post-maturity interest. *Peoples*

25

Nat'l Bank v. Nat'l Bank of Commerce, 69 Wn. 682, 694, 420 P.2d 208 (1966). While this was not an express holding in *Peoples*, it is relevant that the Washington Supreme Court identified that the parties had agreed to an interest rate in a contract, but then awarded prejudgment interest at the statutory rate following the breach in that matter. *Id.*

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